BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Integrate and Refine Procurement Policies and Consider Long-Term Procurement Plans.

Rulemaking 10-05-006 (Filed May 6, 2010)

WOMEN'S ENERGY MATTERS RESPONSE TO PG&E/SCE MOTION TO STRIKE

May 23, 2011

Barbara George, Executive Director Women's Energy Matters P.O. Box 548 Fairfax CA 94978 510-915-6215 wem@igc.org

DOCKET			
11-IEP-1J			
DATE	May 23 2011		
RECD.	Aug 02 2011		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WOMEN'S ENERGY MATTERS RESPONSE TO PG&E/SCE MOTION TO STRIKE3
PG&E/SCE Motion thoroughly contradicts itself
PG&E/SCE Motion wastes time, provides incomplete, false and spurious references
Utilities misconstrued WEM's proposals re EE goals5
Uncertainty regarding Public Goods Charge energy efficiency funds
Utilities seek to ban dialog7
Utilities seek to ban dialog about what it means to link EE and procurement7
More false and spurious references
Distinction between the Strategic Plan and EE Portfolios10
Residential Peak-Reducing On-Bill Financing 10
WEM's proposals may be a better fit for Procurement than for EE proceedings 11
Nuclear power plants generate uncertainty in every aspect of our lives
A few lessons from Fukushima
Reactor reliability problems on a good day15
PG&E risks grid disruptions and great costs from earthquakes and tsunamis
PG&E and SCE attempt to seriously mislead the Commission with false references
Leaked transcripts of NRC hearings showed that it failed to review earthquakes 20
Conclusion
CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE

WOMEN'S ENERGY MATTERS RESPONSE TO PG&E/SCE MOTION TO STRIKE

Pursuant to Rule 11.1(e), Women's Energy Matters (WEM) files this Response to the Motion of Pacific Gas and Electric Company and Southern California Edison Company to Strike Portions of the Testimony Submitted by Women's Energy Matters and Pacific Environment, filed May 10, 2011 by SCE/PG&E. Our response is timely filed, within less than 15 days of the Motion.

The Commission should deny the Motion in regard to WEM's testimony its entirety, for the reasons set forth below.¹ It should consider sanctioning PG&E and Edison for attempting to mislead the Commission by providing false and spurious references, most seriously with regard to nuclear power emergencies (see p. 20).

PG&E/SCE Motion thoroughly contradicts itself

The Commission should consider what the Motion left standing and *did not challenge* — all of pp. 4-5-6-7 ending just before "LTPP should include closure of nuclear power plants;" the whole section entitled "Key elements of WEM's Bundled Procurement Plan for California IOUs" on pp. 10-12-13 ending just before "Interconnection and contract issues;" and the last sections, pp. 21-2, starting with subsection (11) "Incorporate potential savings resulting from GHG reduction funding" through to the end.

Apparently, PG&E/SCE apparently agree with WEM that all of the issues we raised in these sections are in-scope, procurement-related, relevant, consequential, and have not been considered in other procurement-related documents.

But wait — these are the same issues that come up in the sections they want stricken! Here in our original language are examples of "issues" that the Motion *left standing*, *did not seek to strike*:

Our challenge and opportunity in the 21st century is to explore and utilize the many alternative resources that are available and affordable. "Fossil fuels" are in decline and need to be phased out because they cause climate change and other pollution; nuclear power has proved too dangerous to use. A more diverse, renewable energy supply controls both costs and risks..." WEM Testimony, p. 6;

¹ It should also deny the Motion to strike Pacific Environment's testimony, for reasons described in Pacific Environment's response, and also because some of the points we make in regard to WEM's testimony apply to Pacific Environment's testimony as well.

[T]he plan expands preferred resources, particularly energy efficiency and distributed generation, while retiring power plants that use once-through cooling — including nuclear reactors;... WEMBPP's simple changes to contract language, including for Rule 21 projects...makes it possible for small projects to obtain financing;... [D]evelopment of an intricate, sensitive and responsive microgrid in populated areas, which can accommodate DG interconnections and provide feedback on both DG and EE installations to enable overall 'right-sizing' of resources;... To WEM, tiny EE and DG resources are magical... After all, you can multiply small numbers and get big numbers. For example, 250,000 2 kW household solar PV systems; 5,000 100 kW commercial PV systems; 10 million CFLs or appropriate numbers of efficient air conditioners would each provide resources comparable to a 500 MW power plant – without an inch of transmission lines and without producing smoke, GHG or nuclear waste... Ibid, pp. 11-13 (emphasis added).

What the IOUs asked the Commission to strike are WEM's in-depth analysis that supported the issues we raised, and our practical solutions for problems that procurement planners might face in actually putting into practice what we are proposing.

Why would the utilities go to the trouble of trying to strike only these sections? WEM can only speculate since it's impossible to really *know* someone else's motivation — but could it be that they're comfortable with lip-service to the loading order — except when it starts to get real, when someone actually intends to do something to make it happen, they get very nervous about being revealed as frauds and constantly try to shut that down?

Consider a case in point: PG&E's costly efforts to convince Marin that it could not possibly exceed PG&E's amount of renewable energy while maintaining comparable rates — however Marin Energy Authority achieved 27.5% renewables in its very first year, exceeding PG&E by 10 points, while charging comparable rates.

PG&E/SCE Motion wastes time, provides incomplete, false and spurious references The Motion wasted our time and the Commission's time by providing incomplete, false and sometimes spurious references, as we will describe further below. It provided few page citations even when referencing decisions, for example Motion p. 6, footnote 5: "See e.g. D.09-06-016, p. 30; D.10-09-034; and D.10-05-049." Because of the complexity and the poor documentation, WEM had to spend excessive time investigating whether there was any truth to their allegations; all of which we have disproven. See in particular pp. 8 and 20 below.

Utilities misconstrued WEM's proposals re EE goals

On the off-chance that utility lawyers somehow didn't notice that all the issues in the sections they left standing were the same ones they meant to strike, we will also address their arguments. Let's start with this one: "The Commission Should Strike Energy Efficiency Program Proposals by WEM and PE." Motion, p. 5.

The Motion quoted the OIR statement, "'we will not consider new EE goals in this proceeding.' (OIR, p. 12, fn. 22.)" Motion, pp. 5-6. This certainly implied that WEM asked the Commission to consider new goals in this proceeding, but the Motion failed to identify any passage where WEM made such a request. <u>On the contrary, WEM requested the Commission to make sure it considered the goals that were set in EE proceedings, rather than higher goals appearing elsewhere:</u>

The actual goals CPUC set for utility EE programs in 2004 (in D0409067) would provide less than 0.3%/year reductions — i.e. less than 3% over ten years; in 2008 and 09 these goals were *further reduced*. These numbers bear no relation to the much higher goals in the CPUC's "Strategic Plan for Energy Efficiency through 2020" (updated January 2010) or the ARB goals. *The Planning Assumptions reflects the lower goals set in EE proceedings, but the ALJ and parties to this proceeding should be aware of the confusion on this issue and make sure the IOUs' numbers reflect the actual EE goals. WEM Testimony, p. 21.*

We made it clear that our proposal was *additional* to the "goals" of those programs:

(10) Recognize that EE savings from RFOs would be *additional* to "EE goals" The Commission should understand that an RFO allowing EE could capture savings —particularly peak savings — that are not likely to be realized in current EE programs. WEM, p. 21.

We acknowledge that there was some room for misunderstanding, because one of our subsection headings stated: "Increase the capability of EE to meet goals — and increase the goals." WEM, p. 19.² However, it is abundantly clear from our discussion in the three paragraphs under this subheading that "increase the goals" was a *generic reference* — i.e. "we can do better here" — rather than a proposal to

² This is in the section titled "How to *really* make Energy Efficiency #1 in the 'Loading Order of Resources."

raise the *specific goals* of EE program portfolios (either in this proceeding or in EE proceedings).

Instead, we discussed ongoing IOU performance problems with EE and the likelihood that they would once again fail to achieve the Commission's EE goals; we discussed why the last LTPP decision D0712052 credited only 20% of EE goals as actually available to serve load, and we noted that significant uncertainties remained about "overlap" and "cumulative savings" even after the multi-year study by CPUC and CEC staff that sought to resolve such issues.

In fact, WEM proposed ways for California to achieve more energy savings — <u>that bypassed the EE goals and goal-setting process altogether</u>. Our proposals even bypass the concept of EE programs — in the sense of programs that are included in utilities' portfolios that are subject to CPUC's goals. WEM would possibly support efforts to improve EE programs and raise goals — but WEM's proposal exists outside the EE realm; it makes EE directly accountable to the metrics of procurement planners and CAISO, and is not restricted to EE funding.

Uncertainty regarding Public Goods Charge energy efficiency funds³

The legislature has appropriated most of the gas surcharge funds for the general fund this year — *WEM learned this week that gas-related EE programs are already closing down.* Lawmakers are currently debating whether or not to extend the Public Goods Charge (PGC) surcharge on electric rates, which sunsets just six months from now, in January 2012. There is a 2/3 vote required for extension, so it's not a slam-dunk. It's possible, too, that electric PGC funds could be taken for the general fund this year (although they appear to be less vulnerable than gas funds, which were held in a different account).

At the Senate Energy Committee hearing on EE this week (*Energy Efficiency, Is the State's Top Energy Resource Working?* May 17, 2011), the Chair expressed disapproval when a CPUC representative suggested that the Commission could simply order utilities to impose other charges to keep these programs going. Committee

³ Up until now, different pots of EE funds have been pooled together in all programs: (1) "Public Goods Charge" EE surcharge, (2) procurement EE surcharge (electric), (3) Gas Public Purpose Program surcharge. For some time, WEM has discussed allocating these funding pots to separate purposes; this was implicit in our proposal.

members expressed determination to prevent such action by imposing limitations on the Commission's authority. Lawmakers' questions also indicated that they felt the different pots of funds should be allocated to different uses.

WEM has raised similar concerns in CPUC proceedings since 2005 when large "procurement EE" funds were established. WEM's proposal in this proceeding may well accommodate changes the legislature is considering, by devoting "procurement EE" surcharge funds to genuinely procurement-related activities.

Utilities seek to ban dialog

It is one of the major flaws in the Motion's argument that they want the Commission to rule that proposals for new ways of doing things should only be expressed once, in one proceeding. If utilities' goal is to stay stuck in the past, it's a great recipe to ban dialog.

The way human beings develop new ideas generally involves a group process, where ideas are raised, modified and expanded through dialog, often in multiple venues. A new idea is seldom embraced on the first hearing, especially one that challenges entrenched practices that provide substantial benefits to powerful established forces.

The utilities mistakenly conflate offering and discussing proposals with "relitigating."⁴

Utilities seek to ban dialog about what it means to link EE and procurement

The Motion stated that D0906016, the Decision granting intervenor compensation to WEM for our contributions to D0809040 (adopting the CPUC's Long-Term EE Strategic Plan), "included WEM's proposals to link integrated demand-side management ("DSM") with procurement and address peak load caused by AC usage." Motion, p. 7.⁵

⁴ The utilities' fear of meeting an issue that was raised previously seems out of proportion — as if they've been exonerated of murder and they're being dragged up again on the same charges. (While the utilities' failure to meet the loading order may in fact have caused mortalities, they seem pretty well protected from murder charges.) These issues need to be raised multiple times because there is a learning curve that must be taken into account — especially when people need to *unlearn* something that worked for a hundred years and try something new.

⁵ The Compensation decision D0906016 noted that WEM's contribution led to the Commission rejecting the utilities' version of the Strategic Plan, and their control of the planning process.

This is an interesting example for IOUs to choose. They're aware that WEM has raised these issues repeatedly in various EE proceedings, as well as procurement proceedings.⁶

Surely they are also aware that the Commission has stopped short of making some of the changes WEM has recommended that would fully "link" EE to procurement: in the sense that CAISO and procurement planners understand and accept that certain EE contracts will serve a particular need that would otherwise have to be filled by supply side contracts. While WEM has made some progress in bringing these issues into the discourse, there's still a great deal more to be done.

More false and spurious references

The Motion, p. 6. listed five WEM proposals that utilities claim the Commission have already been considered and therefore should be stricken. As noted above (p. 2), footnote 5 offers three decisions as references but only one page number.

The second decision referenced turned out to be this one: Decision 10-09-034 September 23, 2010 DECISION GRANTING AUTHORIZATION TO THE CITY OF HEALDSBURG TO CONVERT AN EXISTING PRIVATE AT-GRADE HIGHWAY-RAIL CROSSING TO A PUBLIC CROSSING.)

A page number is provided for their reference to D0906016: p. 30. None of the 5 listed proposals is mentioned on that page. On the next page there is a listing of WEM's recommendations that were mentioned in Appendix C to the utilities' Strategic Plan, which was simply a listing of parties' input. The compensation decision then stated:

The IOUs incorporated WEM's comments into the CEESP on disclosure of energy efficiency locations, on-bill financing, and impact of air conditioning on various sectors. They did not use the other WEM recommendations because they said adequate controls existed for ME&O funds, DSM is a base not a peak resource, and ... D0906016, p. 31.

While we appreciated the utilities incorporating some morsels of our input, and were grateful for the Commission providing compensation on that basis, unfortunately

⁶ The Motion stated that WEM made similar comments also in A0807021 and R0911014. Note that R0911014 opened after the Strategic Plan docket was closed, but utilities did not seek to strike WEM's comments on this issue there.

the utilities did not see fit to fully incorporate our recommendations in their version of the Strategic Plan, and therefore we continued to raise them.

(Utilities are attempting to deceive this Commission. It is instructive in terms of this Motion that the above quote from the compensation decision mentioned utilities' contention that "DSM is a base not a peak resource." This confirms one of WEM's major concerns, and undermines utilities' claims that procurement has been "linked" with DSM. Obviously, EE is not linked with procurement of peak resources if utilities consider it only a base-load resource.

The utilities are attempting to deceive the Commission and parties in this proceeding by citing compensation decisions that credit WEM for input on these issues — implying that WEM's proposals were fully adopted when they were not. The utilities are also attempting to put WEM in the position of denying that we should have been compensated for that input. Utilities should be sanctioned for such deceptive arguments.)

The compensation decision mentioned that an Appendix to the *Commission's* Draft plan⁷ noted another WEM comment re "linking" EE with procurement:

Appendix 1 identifies a few comments on the Commission's Draft plan submitted by WEM that ... inquire how energy efficiency can participate in the Forward Capacity Market and qualify as peak resources. (Appendix 1 at 8.) D0906016, p. 32.

The final Strategic Plan itself did not in fact incorporate this "inquiry." The compensation decision noted SCE's contention that it was "outside the scope of the Plan." Commentary in the compensation decision gives reasons why the Commission should deny the utilities' current Motion:

The Commission values the participation of a wide range of stakeholders in order to develop the best ideas and information from which to craft its decisions, and appreciates that WEM offers a unique view. However, the intervenor compensation process requires that participation alone is insufficient and a party must become a useful advocate of a unique position that substantially contributes to the resulting decision.

We benefited from WEM's participation, analysis and discussion which improved the dialogue in this proceeding, even if some of its input was unnecessary or outside the scope. We find that WEM's comments and recommendations did

⁷ Note that there were two draft Strategic Plans – one produced by the utilities, and a later one produced by the Commission. This was the Plan which was later adopted.

substantially contribute in the following areas: Commission-sponsored statewide planning, linking integrated DSM with procurement, and expanding discussion of ways to address peak load caused by air conditioning. Ibid, p. 33.

Distinction between the Strategic Plan and EE Portfolios

It's important for those involved in the Commission's procurement docket who have never participated in EE proceedings to understand the distinction between the Strategic Plan and the decisions in EE portfolios proceedings: the Strategic Plan is a *concept* document; utilities are only required to comply with elements of the Strategic Plan that are incorporated into decisions in EE program portfolios proceedings (e.g. A0807021) or EE Rulemakings (e.g. R0911014).

Residential Peak-Reducing On-Bill Financing

The Motion claims that the Commission has already considered "a revolving fund for On-Bill Financing (OBF) of peak-reducing measures, which WEM proposed at 19." Motion, p. 7. Actually, in this proceeding, WEM was advocating OBF funds particularly for *residential* peak-reducing measures, whereas D0710032 limited OBF to small commercial, and D0909047 expanded it to medium size commercial and institutional but provided no financing for residential customers:

With one specific exception, none of the utilities proposes utility financed efficiency for residential customers, citing the complexity and overhead costs of adhering to federal and state consumer lending laws.130 [130 SDG&E plans to continue to offer on-bill financing to multi-family buildings that are not owner occupied, and thus qualifying as a business.] Ibid, pp. 274-275

It's possible that the Commission would consider residential peak-reducing OBF for the next EE cycle, but such considerations are not expected to begin until 2013 if the cycle is extended a year as is currently being discussed – i.e. program planning in 2013 for programs starting in 2014. This is a ways off.

Meanwhile, EE proceedings have historically undervalued peak reductions, whereas serving the peak is the primary concern of nearly all procurement decisions.⁸ As a result, the funding is currently inadequate for EE measures that reduce the peak

⁸ Avoided costs used in EE proceedings do not value peak savings at the same rate charged for peak power supplies.

- i.e. better HVAC, insulation, white roofs and trees, which WEM mentioned a couple of times in our testimony.

This is why WEM believed its proposal for *revolving loans for residential OBF peak-reductions* was appropriate to bring to the procurement docket. It was in fact a unique proposal although its novelty was not particularly important to WEM. We were most excited about the scope and rapidity of alternative EE power resources that such an OBF program could achieve.

OBF funding for peak-reducing measures would save handsome amounts on airconditioning bills for people in hot, inland areas.

If WEM's residential procurement-focused adaptation of OBF were adopted in this LTPP proceeding and adequately funded, it could be up and running *two years earlier* than any new OBF program in EE proceedings.⁹ This is significant in view of the urgent need to close nuclear power plants and other once-through cooling power plants; and the fact that EE could replace significant amounts of those power supplies at the lowest possible cost and zero emissions.

You could make this program available to renters through a combination of stimulus funds from ARRA — the American Recovery and Reinvestment Actå - and program dollars for landlords that would be contingent on landlords agreeing to allow tenants to participate in stimulus funded or OBF programs that would save money for renters as well. (The utility would have to take a chance on being able to identify renters that intended to stay in the unit — unless the government decided to rule more creatively about allowing bills to follow the renter of a particular space, not just an owner.)

WEM's proposals may be a better fit for Procurement than for EE proceedings

After more than half a decade of raising this issue in EE proceedings, WEM has come to the conclusion that *procurement dockets may be a more appropriate venue to fully link EE to procurement*.

Parties steeped in the minutiae of EE seem oblivious to the fact that CAISO is absent from EE venues and CAISO's concerns are virtually irrelevant to them. EM&V

⁹ OBF has already been established as a workable mechanism, and utilities have already modified their IT systems to accommodate it, so it would be relatively easy to extend to other customers.

does not yet correlate EE with substations, which is what governs procurement planners and CAISO's deliberations about local reliability, transmission and generation.

Clearly, WEM's proposal to make EE eligible to bid in procurement Requests for Offers (RFOs) exists OUTSIDE of the world of EE proceedings and goals set in those proceedings.

Perhaps the utilities seek to blur or otherwise obfuscate that insight by excising particular passages of testimony. They certainly hope to shorten the discussion of nuclear power plants.

Nuclear power plants generate uncertainty in every aspect of our lives

It is California's problem — and CPUC's duty — to make sure utilities maintain grid reliability at a just and reasonable cost to ratepayers.¹⁰ The Commission is supposed to consider issues of "uncertainty" in regard to the timing and availability of resources in utilities' procurement plans.

These were exactly the issues that WEM identified and defined narrowly in regard to nuclear power, as required by the OIR. *The Motion falsely alleged that WEM is recommending a "broad inquiry into the safety and benefits of continued operation of California's nuclear facilities.*" Motion, p. 3.

<u>On the contrary, WEM believes the issues are quite obvious and any inquiry</u> <u>should be brief.</u> What we propose is ACTION – sensible, practical action, on a fast timeline - exactly what this phase of this LTPP proceeding proposes to deliver.

Because of extreme uncertainty regarding nuclear reliability and procurement costs, which we described in our testimony and discuss further below, WEM's testimony recommended tackling the nuclear shutdown and replacement issues now, in this track of this proceeding, so that SONGs and Diablo could be shut down in an orderly way in the next few months.

We also recommended that the Commission take care of the changes necessary to make EE eligible to do the job that it is eminently qualified to do – replace nuclear power

¹⁰ These responsibilities exist independently of nuclear safety questions, which are in the exclusive realm of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

 and in so doing provide greater reliability for the grid as well as financial viability for the NPP owner, as EE has done elsewhere in the past.

A few lessons from Fukushima

Fukushima reminds us that the reliability of the grid is highly uncertain if nuclear power plants (NPPs) are hooked up to it. This is especially true in a land of earthquakes, but is true everywhere on a planet where unexpected human error and equipment failure are always a possibility.¹¹

The record of high capacity factor for California's nuclear power plants (i.e. running 24/7 virtually all the time — when they're online) may lull people into ignoring these problems. But it's troubling to look at the recent three-year period when nuclear power was frequently unavailable: the use of coal power went up dramatically, and gas power increased also. This is visible in WEM's table, below:

% CA Power Mix	2006	2007	2008
Eligible Renewable	5%	10%	2%
Coal	29%	32%	34%
Large Hydro	31%	24%	18%
Natural Gas	25%	31%	42%
Nuclear	<1%	3%	5%
Other	0%	0%	0%
Total	100%	100%	100%

 Table 1. WEM Analysis California Power Mix during Nuclear Outages

Source PG&E bill inserts, Aug. 2007, Nov. 2008, and Aug. 2009¹²

There were mostly PLANNED outages for retrofits and refueling in those years.

For an UNPLANNED nuclear outage, in an accident scenario, all bets are off on the reliability of the grid. (More analysis than NRC deemed necessary in this area would have been useful.)

¹² PG&E Power Content Label Aug. 2007 (listed actual 2006 CA Power Mix): <u>http://www.pge.com/myhome/myaccount/explanationofbill/billinserts/previous/2007/aug.shtml</u> Nov. 2008 (listed actual 2007):

http://www.pge.com/myhome/myaccount/explanationofbill/billinserts/previous/2009/august.shtml

¹¹ Add to that cost-cutting; deferred maintenance; and increasing investor share by reducing the staff.. Reduced safety regulations may also be a problem, although these are not our concern here because these are administered solely by the NRC.

http://www.pge.com/myhome/myaccount/explanationofbill/billinserts/previous/2008/november.shtml Aug. 2009 (listed actual 2008):

There is the problem of replacing the big chunks of power that the nukes provided, and there could also be problems providing off-site power for the essential cooling systems of the NPP itself.

The NRC assumed that if there are multiple reactors, one of them would be able to power the other — but if both are offline, as all six are at Fukushima, they require power from the grid or other sources to keep from deteriorating further.

Just a few days ago, May 18th the Japanese news media revealed that things went very wrong very quickly in those first few hours of the first day at Fukushima Daiichi, March 11-12, ten weeks ago. Grid reliability was compromised. TEPCO lost offsite power immediately from the quake; it lost the diesel backups an hour later in the tsunami. After that TEPCO experts assumed they had eight hrs. of backup battery power, but that turned out to be over-optimistic.¹³

This scenario could occur at California NPPs if there were a series of human errors, an attack of some sort that disabled the NPPs, or if we were hit by a sufficiently powerful earthquake and tsunami — which is in the realm of possibilities as we understand them today.¹⁴

For example, the diesel backups might be unavailable e.g. if they run out of fuel; or fail to start, as often happens in random tests; or become disabled as they were by the tsunami in Fukushima. The backup batteries might die long before other supplies could be hooked up — as they did in Fukushima, in part due to roads that were impassable because of the earthquake and tsunami.

The Commission should consider potential difficulties bringing workers and supplies to San Onofre and Diablo in a disaster scenario, which may be needed to restore power and protect grid reliability, as it was in Japan. (Such issues should have been thoroughly modeled in emergency planning but were not, as we discuss further below.)

Lack of grid reliability could create more desperation in the community from lack of power, like we've seen in Japan in areas formerly served by Fukushima Daiichi, where emergency shelters and hospitals lack reliable electricity even as they struggle to serve

¹³ It now appears that the quake itself may have cracked one or more of the pools and reactor containment vessels and broken key cooling pipes and valves; previously these were thought to be intact until the explosions. Fuel in the pools was scrambled by the earthquake(s), the explosions, the meltdowns, or all of the above.

¹⁴ Seismic activity appears to be increasing at an unusual rate.

people whose homes were either destroyed by the earthquake/ tsunami or are no longer habitable because they're in the radioactive exclusion zone around the power plant.

Reactor reliability problems on a good day

The Commission is supposed to consider issues of "uncertainty" in this proceeding.¹⁵ PG&E's Testimony on nuclear power filed in its recent General Rate Case demonstrated that key components need to be replaced — including the Process Control System (*which monitors and controls conditions inside the reactor*).¹⁶

GRC documents indicate that essential parts are no longer available. PG&E's testimony envisioned ways to get around this, and assumed that there would be plenty of time to do it. 2011 GRC, PG&E-5, p. 4-15. This could prove to be mistaken.

Deferred maintenance at Diablo Canyon could have a profound impact on grid reliability and costs, which the Commission should consider as soon as possible, i.e. in this LTPP track 2.

It is urgent for this procurement docket to consider the amount of time the Diablo reactors might be offline in order to retrofit these parts. It should also consider the possibility that one or more parts would break unexpectedly and would require reactor shutdown for an extended period in order for a manufacturer to be located who could gear up to provide a replacement.

The Commission should also consider that two of the items that need replacement could create disastrous emergency reliability issues and costs if they break prematurely; see the passages below from the 2011 GRC, PG&E Testimony Vol. 5, pp. 4-15 – 17:

12 The Westinghouse Hagan 7100 Process Control System 13 (PCS) equipment is original plant equipment which has become 14 **antiquated and obsolete.** The system is based on 1970s analog 15 technology that is **difficult to maintain.** <u>The PCS converts</u> <u>16 physical plant parameters such as temperature, pressure, level,</u> <u>17 and flow into electrical signals. These signals are used for plant</u> <u>18 control, remote process indication, and computer monitoring.</u>

Hmmmm. This "antiquated, obsolete" equipment is responsible for monitoring and controlling key aspects of the reactor's cooling system and its shutdown capabilities.

¹⁵ fn - The uncertainty of IOUs meeting the EE goals (or the virtual certainty that they won't meet them) is also something which needs to be considered...

¹⁶ PG&E 2011 GRC Testimony, Exhibit PG&E-5, Energy Supply, Chapter 4, Nuclear Operations Costs; A0912020.

How quaint! But this is a *nuclear reactor*. Is there some reason why PG&E didn't replace this Process Control System long ago? The automobile industry began using digital rather than analog technology at least fifteen years ago for equipment that has such a critical role in decision-making and operations.

19 These original analog controls, vintage 1970, are no longer 20 manufactured and there is not a sufficiently large owners' group 21 in the nuclear industry to help with remanufacturing these 22 controls. The new design will remove and replace the existing 23 equipment in the control racks...

It would certainly be a challenge to get all the way into the core of a reactor and replace such a key system in a rack of reactor control rods. No wonder they put it off.

Then again, it could be far worse. Imagine what it would be like to have to do even part of such a retrofit in the midst of an accident? Just recently, TEPCO sent workers inside one of the reactor buildings in Fukushima to try to install some makeshift monitoring equipment. After a whole month of driving blind, having only the haziest idea of what was going on in there, they were desperate to get a look inside the reactor containment to see what was left of the fuel rods. To do this, workers had to go into the reactor in shifts. They got a year's dose of radiation in just a few minutes.¹⁷

27 ...The new system will be built into the existing
28 control racks which will be physically modified as required to
29 accommodate mounting of the equipment and seismic
30 qualification of the racks.

Hmmm – [would have been good to ask this in hearings...] — are the racks "seismically qualified" today? What would that mean? See below, *PG&E and SCE attempt to seriously mislead the Commission with false references*, *p. 20*.

New Auto/Manual hand stations will 31 be installed at both the control room vertical boards and the hot 32 shutdown panel....

That's reassuring. But the next paragraph raises new worries:

This project is being done in conjunction with

¹⁷ People have been asking, *why can't they do this sort of thing w/ robots?* Well, it turns out robots don't like radiation either, especially the intense heat. And how many robots can climb over rubble and not get stuck?

33 Eagle 21 replacement (referred to below) ...
1 ... This project will address the Auxiliary
2 Feedwater (AFW) controls that are currently experiencing
3 performance challenges status along with many other
4 obsolescence and maintenance issues.

Wait! The <u>Auxiliary Feedwater Controls</u>? They are "currently experiencing **performance challenges**?" **currently**? along with "many other <u>obsolescence and</u> <u>maintenance issues</u>?" What exactly does this mean? When would Auxiliary Feedwater Controls be needed? Don't they ensure critical backup water supply for the cooling system? For example, if the AFW had been working at Fukushima Daichii would TEPCO have been able to avoid the expense of helicopters dumping seawater into the reactors, and barges sent by the United States with millions of gallons of freshwater for dry as death reactors?¹⁸

6 (b) Eagle 21 Replacement

7 When Eagle 21 was installed in 1994, it replaced some of 8 the Hagan 7100 Process Control modules. The control racks 9 and control board still contain many of these old analog 10 modules. There are also Fischer modules for AFW and 11 Condenser Hotwell Level Control that are obsolete. The Hagan 12 and Fischer modules are approaching end of life and are very 13 hard to work on because of the older technology and 14 obsolescence of parts. They currently have several issues that 15 cannot be resolved by either PG&E or Westinghouse. In order 16 to replace these systems with a digital platform, a Diversity and 17 Defense in Depth analysis must be performed. This project is a 18 multi-year project which will require a License Amendment 19 Request (LAR) to be submitted to the NRC. Currently the 20 estimated review time for an LAR is two years. It is PG&E's 21 intent to replace the old systems with a current common 22 platform based on the I&C Long-Term Strategy to increase 23 reliability, reduce maintenance, and increase safety of the plant. PG&E-5, pp. 4-15 – 4-16 (emphasis added).

In WEM's view, it is unconscionable that the Company would even consider running a nuclear plant for one more day with issues like these. Are we overreacting?

¹⁸ What does it say about the world's priorities and the fragility of a power system dependent on nuclear reactors that the U.S. sent freshwater barges for reactors *but not for thirsty people who were deprived of water due in part to lack of power for water pumps, or who were forced to drink radioactive water?*

Let's try this analogy — even though there is nothing in the world that's really analogous to a nuclear power plant – but let's just say you had a 1970's model automobile and you knew that key parts of the steering apparatus and brakes were obsolete and had been behaving badly but the dealer could no longer fix them and the manufacturer had changed hands since then and wasn't willing to be helpful.

Would you be driving that car on a superhighway?

Leaving aside the safety problems – over at NRC — what sorts of transportation reliability problems would you face if you had to spend two years just getting approval to take your jalopy to the shop? And who knows how much longer it would take to install the new parts and make sure they work with all the other old stuff?

Setting aside the costs of replacing these parts (which in PG&E's case are decided in the GRC), what would it cost you to rent or buy another car while all these things are being handled — and then what would you do with that vehicle when the old clunker is ready to go back on the road?

And what if you had postponed all those repairs, and happened to be driving your jalopy down the coast highway when an earthquake and tsunami hit?

Note, WEM's concern here is cost, and grid reliability.

We are clear that the NRC, not CPUC, oversees nuclear safety issues.

PG&E risks grid disruptions and great costs from earthquakes and tsunamis

WEM would like to ask PG&E the following questions (and ask similar questions of SCE in regard to SONGs):

- 1. What are the possible consequences, including costs and grid reliability, if either or both of the *Westinghouse Hagan 7100 Process Control System* and/or the *Auxiliary Feedwater Controls* fail to work when they are needed, (a) during normal operations, or (b) during an earthquake/ tsunami on the order of Fukushima?
- 2. Would the consequences possibly include having to flood a reactor with seawater to keep it cool, as in Fukushima? If so, once Diablo had been cooled with seawater, could it ever be used again as a power source?¹⁹

¹⁹ Experts discussing TEPCO's actions and inactions at Fukushima Daiichi have noted that the company's concern for *maintaining an image of reliability* may have caused them to fail to vent the reactors sooner (which might have prevented explosions). Even more related to our procurement concerns in this

- 3. If not, what would it cost to rebuild Diablo, especially if the site were radioactive? Would this even be possible?
- 4. If both reactors were offline at Diablo, and the grid were temporarily disconnected, how much offsite power and GHG emissions would be needed to restore power to the NPPs and/or provide improvised cooling operations such as those at Fukushima (throughout the entire period starting March 11, 2011 and continuing for another six months or more)? At what cost? (Include among other things the cost and GHG emissions of helicopters; barges; fire engines and other vehicles; as well as the cost of experts to plan these services and people to provide them; plus perhaps settlements with families of workers who die or are disabled by this work...)
- 5. Does PG&E's secret "hedging plan" include any or all of these eventualities?
- 6. Would nuclear fuel stockpiled for Diablo possibly lose some of its value in such a scenario?
- 7. What is PG&E's justification for deferred maintenance of these critical systems? Why weren't they replaced when PG&E first began having "maintenance issues" and knew they were "obsolete?"
- 8. Did PG&E choose to keep Diablo running, *to foster an illusion of "reliability"* and low costs in the short term thereby risking a much greater loss of reliability and catastrophic costs in the long-term?
- 9. Were PG&E's reckless disregard for reliability and costs influenced by the limited liability of NPP owners, based on the Price-Anderson Act? Do PG&E's calculations include costs that would be borne by taxpayers of the State of California and the United States?

WEM's Testimony and our further discussion in this Response demonstrate that regardless of NRC's failure to review earthquakes and tsunamis in relation to nuclear power plant safety, there are separate issues of grid reliability and costs related to nuclear power that are at issue here in this procurement proceeding, and the impacts of earthquakes and tsunamis are relevant to these issues as well.

To preserve reliability and prevent undue costs, the Commission should order the utilities to close the reactors while it conducts a review.

proceeding, TEPCO hesitated pouring seawater into the reactors because the chemical interactions of cold saltwater with reactor materials and fuel rods would mean they would never again be able to generate power from these expensive investments.

PG&E and SCE attempt to seriously mislead the Commission with false references

In January1985, Commissioner James Asselstine, a member of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), leaked transcripts to KRON-TV of three closed, secret NRC meetings held in the summer of 1984 — 27 years ago — shortly before issuing a license for Diablo Canyon.

WEM offers brief excerpts from these deliberations (below) first of all to make sure everyone understands that NRC decided, in the words of its Chair that, "the NRC's regulations should not be interpreted to require a specific review of the effects of earthquakes on emergency planning"²⁰ and therefore none was done during licensing proceedings for either SONGs or Diablo.

The Motion falsely states:

WEM's claims that "neither earthquakes nor tsunamis" were explored during the licensing process for SONGS 2 & 3 or DCPP. (WEM testimony, p. 9.) This is untrue, which a review of the NRC's regulations that governed the licensing of nuclear power plants (10 CFR Part 50), or a review of the existing licenses of either SONGS 2 & 3 or DCPP would have indicated. Motion, p. 3, fn. 5.

Once again, the Motion fails to provide page references — either to the supposed passages in the NRC's regulations, or the SONGs and DCPP licenses. *That's because these documents prove that WEM is correct and the Motion is lying*.

Leaked transcripts of NRC hearings showed that it failed to review earthquakes

In these long-ago meetings, the Commissioners and their lawyers discussed why and how they would avoid ordering earthquake studies as a condition to licensing Diablo Canyon. Chairman Paladino recalled what they did at SONGs:

"Well, our decision on San Onofre was that our rules don't require that we consider earthquakes... Is that a feasible approach to say, we reviewed San Onofre and here is why we think it applies to Diablo Canyon?" Transcript of NRC meeting, July 25, 1984, pp. 52, 58.

NRC's lawyer, Mr. Trubach replied: "Well, there is nothing in the record of San Onofre either..." But he thought he could finesse that: "It was really founded on an implicit but factual finding that earthquakes were not going to be important." Ibid, p. 59.

The Commission discussed this further at the next meeting:

²⁰ Transcript of NRC meeting, July 25, 1984, p. 26.

CHAIRMAN PALLADINO: We are taking cognizance [of this issue] by saying such things as, *earthquakes are really no worse than fog or whatever*. Transcript of NRC meeting, July 30, 1984, p. 14.

MR. TRUBACH: "What we are trying to do here is to read the regulations to say that the Commission doesn't look at (earthquakes) and explain why. In other words, we are trying to make it not material to the licensing process. Ibid, p. 16.

MR. TRUBACH: ...In the San Onofre proceeding the staff had said... you should look at the effects of earthquakes on emergency planning. That's an interpretation of the regulations the Commission then chose not to endorse. But it's something the Commission has to explain why it didn't accept the technical staff's expert judgment. Ibid, p. 20.

MR. TRUBACH: Basically, the commission is saying that **on a generic basis it has determined that earthquakes are sufficiently different from other natural phenomena so that the rules will not be read to require it**, which is different from saying 'Well, the Commission considers all kinds of natural phenomena, some in more detail than others, and on earthquakes less in detail because it's kind of subsumed in the consideration given to the others.' Ibid, p. 26.

CHAIRMAIN PALADINO: ... the NRC's regulations should not be interpreted to require a specific review of the effects of earthquakes on emergency planning. Ibid, p. 26.

COMMISSIONER ASSELSTINE: ... I find it disturbing that we're starting out with the proposition that, 'What we're trying to do here is reach a certain outcome, and what is it that we have to do in order to reach that outcome?' I am not pleased about the outcome either, but it does seem to me that the right question to be asking first and foremost is, 'Was San Onofre right or was it wrong?' Ibid, p. 42.

CHAIRMAN PALLADINO: Well, but the probabilities are much lower. COMMISSIONER ASSELSTINE: Well, but the whole rationale for emergency planning to start with is that you plan for just those kinds of improbable events. Ibid, p. 43.

CHAIRMAN PALLADINO: The probability of the radiological release and an earthquake... is so small as to be negligible. Ibid, p. 51.

At the third hearing, they really got down to business:

COMMISSIONER ZECH: "... it seems to me that we kind of have a responsibility, as Commissioners, to put out some kind of generic rulemaking, widely acceptable, perhaps not as definitive as we would like to make it, but some guidance that earthquakes are to be considered in emergency planning." COMMISSIONER ASSELSTINE: Why don't you do both?.... the case-specific determination in this case... and, in addition to that, start a generic rulemaking to look at it nationwide -- to cover your bets? COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: *Well, that really makes us look stupid.* Transcript of NRC closed meeting 8/3/93, p. 38.

MR. TRUBACH: I think the judges are going to look at the Commission's decision and say, 'It is just incredible for you to stand there and tell me, Counsel, that the Commission does not look at the effect of earthquakes on emergency planning in California. Ibid, p. 72.

MR. TRUBACH: But as far as we can tell, it was never litigated. The Board never really gave anyone a shot at anything to do with earthquakes as they affect emergency planning. Ibid, p. 74.

MR. MALSCH: NUREG-0654 says you ought to look at emergency conditions. MR. TRUBACH: It specifically calls out meteorologic phenomena. CHAIRMAN PALLADINO: And does it say anything about earthquakes? COMMISSIONER BERNTHAL: No, it's silent. Ibid, p. 78.

CHAIRMAN PALLADINO: Well, I'd like to give General Counsel a suggestion on a why-we-goofed type of statement. I'll also give you a copy, and then you can feed back. I'm trying to go on vacation. COMMISSIONER BERNTHAL: Yes, me, too. Ibid, p. 86.

So there you have it. The NRC felt it wasn't necessary to review the potential effects of earthquakes on either San Onofre or Diablo. In a decision written by Judge Robert Bork, the DC Court of Appeals backed the NRC's decision 5-4, denying a suit by Mothers for Peace.

The Majority opinion confirmed that, "The NRC was not required by its regulations to consider the potential complication effects of earthquakes on emergency planning in its decision to license Diablo Canyon." Bork's opinion included a denial for a request that the court examine the leaked transcripts, saying, "Judicial examination of these transcripts would represent an extraordinary intrusion into the realm of the agency." And yet, Bork added a flourish that the NRC left out, stating "The probability that the two events (an earthquake and a nuclear accident) will occur contemporaneously in a single week during the life of the plant is approximately one in 6.5 million." This estimate came from an off-the-record PG&E report, not the NRC.²¹

²¹ Communication from Abalone Clearinghouse; citations pending.

The US Supreme Court refused to hear the case, letting the appeals decision stand.

Today, in May, 2011, PG&E and Edison are willing to risk being caught in a bald-faced lie to the Commission, trying to cover up what really happened.

WEM asks the ALJ and parties to consider, should this Commission take its cue from the NRC and ignore these issues? Or should it take a more responsible approach, given what we have all learned in the past 27 years, especially from Fukushima?

Conclusion

Anybody who's ever owned a really old car knows that there comes a point when the cost of repairs becomes unmanageable (and in some cases practically impossible since parts are no longer available). Replacing things one by one is far more expensive than starting from scratch with a different kind of car (and more trouble than taking public transit).

The trick is to notice the signal – when what might seem like a relatively small repair is actually just the beginning of a cascade of problems. In the end, you might be too poor to afford any transportation; you might even be grateful if you can still walk.

It's tempting to keep going, especially if you just sank a pretty penny in it for something else, like a new radiator (i.e. a non-steam generator), but you'll look back and see that this was exactly where you needed to pull back and send this old jalopy to its final resting place – lest you find yourself stranded at midnight on a snowy mountain road with a fire in your engine compartment and your precious granddaughter screaming in terror in her car-seat. Or worse still, you're careening off a cliff – was it the steering? Or the brakes that failed? You'll never know. In that extra-long second before impact, will you be glad you saved money? Will you still pretend your old ride was reliable?

Ten days ago the prime minister of Japan began to pull the plug on nukes. He cancelled the plan for Japan to get 50% of its energy from NPPs, and pledged to start from scratch with renewables. Imagine how he must wish he had made that decision January 10th instead of May 10th and had started by spending what was necessary to close down Fukushima Daiichi 1-6 first, because they were among the nukes most vulnerable to earthquakes and tsunamis?

Would TEPCO – and Japan itself – possibly be in better financial shape today?

- 23 -

California is still in the enviable position of being able to make the right decision early enough to avoid terrible tragedy and long-term reliability problems on the grid. We should seize this opportunity now; it could end in an instant.

While utility executives and lawyers are paid handsomely to ignore their feelings and work for the greater good of the shareholders, they might want to consider that the shareholders too would benefit from closing the nukes. And finally, judges and commissioners may not like being put on the spot — but they'll go down in history as heroes if they ignore the pressure to pass the buck.

If only. These are the words no one wants to say – or hear.

Dated: May 23, 2011

Respectfully Submitted,

/s/ Barbara George

Barbara George, Executive Director Women's Energy Matters P.O. Box 548 Fairfax CA 94978 510-915-6215 wem@igc.org

CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE

R1005006

I, Barbara George, certify that on this day May 23, 2011 I caused copies of the attached WOMEN'S ENERGY MATTERS RESPONSE TO PG&E/SCE MOTION TO STRIKE to be served on all parties by emailing a copy to all parties identified on the electronic service list provided by the California Public Utilities Commission for this proceeding, and also by efiling at the CPUC Docket office, and mailing a copy to ALJ Peter Allen and Assigned Commissioner Michael Peevey.

Dated: May 23, 2011 at Fairfax, California.

/s/ Barbara George

DECLARANT

(Electronic service List attached to original only)

Service List R1005006

achang@efficiencycouncil.org,d ouglass@energyattorney.com,lid dell@energyattorney.com,josh@ BrightLineDefense.org,aes_ltpp @aes.com,sahm@fitcoalition.co m,kristin.b.burford@gmail.com,j anreid@coastecon.com,smartine z@nrdc.org,sue.mara@rtoadviso rs.com,tam.hunt@gmail.com,lwi sland@ucsusa.org,martinhomec @gmail.com,nrader@calwea.org ,abraham.silverman@nrgenergy. com,mpieniazek@drenergyconsu lting.com,mdorn@mwe.com,jim _p_white@transcanada.com,jarm enta@calpine.com,Learl@Sempr aUtilities.com,b.buchynsky@dgc

us.com,jbloom@winston.com,ca rol.schmidfrazee@sce.com,mary @solutionsforutilities.com,DAKi ng@SempraGeneration.com,mtie rney-lloyd@enernoc.com,ek@aklaw.com,mdjoseph@adamsbroa dwell.com,nao@cpuc.ca.gov,ma ng@turn.org,tjl@a-

klaw.com,dbehles@ggu.edu,bcra gg@goodinmacbride.com,steveg reenwald@dwt.com,vidhyaprabh akaran@dwt.com.jeffreygray@d wt.com,lcottle@winston.com,CR Md@pge.com,ssmyers@att.net,s ervice@spurr.org.JChamberlin@ LSPower.com,wbooth@booth-

law.com,jwiedman@keyesandfo x.com,pcort@earthjustice.org,sla zerow@cbecal.org,wrostov@eart hjustice.org,gmorris@emf.net,ja nsar@ucsusa.org,agerterlinda@g mail.com.tomb@crossborderener gy.com,michaelboyd@sbcglobal. net,jsanders@caiso.com,kelly@v otesolar.org,burtt@macnexus.org ,cmkehrein@ems-

ca.com.abb@eslawfirm.com.kmi lls@cfbf.com.deb@a-

klaw.com,amber@ethree.com,ap ligavko@firstsolar.com,andres.p acheco@recurrentenergy.com,be th@beth411.com,DbP0@pge.co m,drp.gene@sbcglobal.net,jbaird @earthjustice.org,jleslie@luce.c om,mainspan@ecsgrid.com,matt hew@turn.org,nlong@nrdc.org,s teven@iepa.com,e-

recipient@caiso.com,DWTCPU CDOCKETS@dwt.com,mrw@ mrwassoc.com,CKebler@Sempr aGeneration.com,cynthia.brady @constellation.com,dgilligan@n aesco.org,imcgowan@3DegreesI nc.com,jna@speakeasy.org,Meli ssa.Schary@sce.com,mokeefe@ efficiencycouncil.org,michelle.d. grant@dynegy.com,steven.huhm an@morganstanley.com,michael. yuffee@hoganlovells.com,steve. weiler@leonard.com,kjsimonsen @ems-

ca.com,ccollins@energystrat.co m,jfarr@Energystrat.com,Cynthi akmitchell@gmail.com,hanslaetz @gmail.com,fmobasheri@aol.co m,amber.wyatt@sce.com,case.ad min@sce.com,Melissa.Hovsepia n@sce.com,rich.mettling@sce.c om,GBass@SempraSolutions.co m,JPacheco@SempraUtilities.co m,WKeilani@SempraUtilities.co m,CentralFiles@SempraUtilities. com,rcox@pacificenvironment.o rg,chh@cpuc.ca.gov,kpp@cpuc. ca.gov,marcel@turn.org,abeck@ cpv.com,AxL3@pge.com,RegRe lCPUCCases@pge.com,C4MU @pge.com,ejhouse@live.com,G xZ5@pge.com,Gloria.Smith@sie rraclub.org,filings@aklaw.com,KXHY@pge.com,Kcj 5@pge.com,lwilliams@ggu.edu, mrgg@pge.com,mpa@aklaw.com,will.mitchell@cpv.co m,abrowning@votesolar.org,swa ng@pacificenvironment.org,devi n.mcdonell@bingham.com,jsque ri@goodinmacbride.com,jfilippi @nextlight.com,rafi.hassan@sig. com,robertgex@dwt.com,todd.ed mister@bingham.com,Diane.Fell man@nrgenergy.com,cem@new sdata.com,CPUCCases@pge.co m,ryan.heidari@endimensions.c om,wetstone@alamedamp.com,g opal@recolteenergy.com,Sean.B eatty@mirant.com,kowalewskia @calpine.com,barmackm@calpi ne.com,cpucdockets@keyesandf ox.com,sstanfield@keyesandfox. com,dmarcus2@sbcglobal.net,rs chmidt@bartlewells.com,patrick

m@crossborderenergy.com,eras mussen@marinenergyauthority.o rg,philm@scdenergy.com,bperlst e@pacbell.net,wem@igc.org,pus hkarwagle@flynnrci.com,dwang @nrdc.org,bmcc@mccarthylaw. com,brbarkovich@earthlink.net,j weil@aglet.org,bill@jbsenergy.c om,bburns@caiso.com,brian.thea ker@nrgenergy.com,mary.lynch @constellation.com,grosenblum @caiso.com,mrothleder@caiso.c om,uhelman@caiso.com,Ray Pi ngle@msn.com,daniel.h.kim@m e.com,Danielle@ceert.org,david @ceert.org,ddavie@wellhead.co m,gohara@calplg.com,jim.metro pulos@sierraclub.org,kdw@woo druff-expert-

services.com,mcox@calplg.com, blaising@braunlegal.com,eddyco nsulting@gmail.com,aspalding@ aspeneg.com,clinvill@aspeneg.c om,atrowbridge@daycartermurp hy.com,dsanchez@daycartermur phy.com,cpuc@libertyenergy.com,sas@a-

klaw.com,dws@r-c-s-

inc.com,john_dunn@transcanada .com,meredith_lamey@transcana da.com,djurijew@capitalpower.c om,spillott@capitalpower.com,gi fford.jung@powerex.com,AEG @cpuc.ca.gov,CNL@cpuc.ca.go v,SMK@cpuc.ca.gov,cleni@ene rgy.state.ca.us,sap@cpuc.ca.gov, bbc@cpuc.ca.gov,clu@cpuc.ca.g ov,dbp@cpuc.ca.gov,dil@cpuc.c a.gov,jls@cpuc.ca.gov,jp6@cpuc .ca.gov,kkm@cpuc.ca.gov,kho@ cpuc.ca.gov,cho@cpuc.ca.gov,m js@cpuc.ca.gov,nws@cpuc.ca.go v,nlr@cpuc.ca.gov,psd@cpuc.ca. gov,phs@cpuc.ca.gov,pva@cpuc .ca.gov,wtr@cpuc.ca.gov,rls@cp uc.ca.gov,svn@cpuc.ca.gov,ys2 @cpuc.ca.gov,claufenb@energy. state.ca.us,jwoodwar@energy.sta te.ca.us,ldecarlo@energy.state.ca .us,mjaske@energy.state.ca.us,M nyberg@energy.state.ca.us,irhyn e@energy.state.ca.us